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    A tugboat hauls a barge into the mouth of the Fraser River. The Steveston dock is a fine place to watch the sunset and the boat traffic.
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  Lavender harvest in the Cowichan Valley.
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  Introduction


  British Columbia’s mountainous coast, a wilderness maze of islands and inlets, has never been an easy land to tame. It is steep, rocky, thickly forested, rainy and cold. More than 200 years after Captain Cook’s first landfall at one of the tiny coves fronting the Pacific, it is still mostly uninhabited. The First Nations built a successful way of life here on the edge, but European settlement came painfully, slowly and in many areas not at all. Most immigrants came from an agrarian background and were looking for farmland; the steep forested mountains along the coast, so difficult to access, had little to offer. It is easy to see why most of today’s inhabitants crowd into the relatively flat and arable lands of the Coastal Trench—southwestern Vancouver Island and the Fraser Valley—where, ironically, today’s burgeoning cities have commandeered much of the pioneer pasture land once so eagerly sought after.


  The few small settlements along the rocky Pacific edge have a distinctly different character from those inland, built not on farming but on resource extraction. The isolated bays, inlets and fog-shrouded valleys are home to small fishing villages, lumber camps, mines and mill towns, always at the mercy of fluctuating supplies and world prices. Some have thrived; some have not. Increasingly, adventure tourism is stepping up to provide alternate incomes in this land where the prime commodity is wilderness.


  Some of the country roads in this book lead through farm fields and orchards, particularly in the Fraser Valley, the largest pocket of arable land in the whole of British Columbia. (Despite encroaching suburbia, even around Vancouver and Victoria there are still roads quiet and pleasant enough for rewarding travel.) Roads farther flung exude a strong whiff of salt air as they explore rocky shorelines and beaches, fishing villages, coves and harbours and islands still adrift in worlds of their own. Old logging roads and railways, mining camps and whaling stations, isolated First Nations villages, tiny ports—some reached only by sea or by dusty travel along rough forest tracks—have a more adventurous appeal than the quiet lanes of the Fraser Valley or the Saanich Peninsula. Then there are places that even today cannot be reached by any sort of road. Some of these are included in this book because of several little ships that carry freight and passengers through the maze of islands and down long inlets to reach them. On these sea lanes, you can discover some of B.C.’s most historic places and catch a sense of the true coastal wilderness. Whichever road you choose to travel, all the destinations are worthy of discovery.
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    Creamy surf rolls in at Long Beach, in the misty sunset.
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  Fraser Valley Slow Roads


  The Fraser Valley stretches in an alluring triangle 150 kilometres from its apex near Hope to the great river’s three-fingered delta at Vancouver’s southern edge. On a geological time scale, the valley is all new land—sediments 500 metres thick scoured by the river from the British Columbia heartland during tumultuous eons of land erosion, vulcanism and glaciation. The sediment filled what used to be an inlet of the sea, bounded by the Coast Mountain ranges to the north and the Cascade Mountains to the south. In all of B.C.’s deeply indented and fragmented coast, the valley is unique, the largest area of fertile arable land in the province. And thanks to a government policy of agricultural land preservation, it is still mostly an idyllic rural landscape, a mosaic of small farms that is divided east-west by the surge of the Fraser River. Though increasingly nibbled at the edges by expanding subdivisions, the valley offers worthwhile country road explorations.
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    Above the yellow fields of daffodils around Bradner rise the snowy peaks of the Golden Ears, so named because of their golden hue at sunset.
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  The river was the valley’s first transportation route, used by First Nations who lived along its banks and later by European miners boating upriver to the Interior goldfields. Steamboat landings along the way became the focus of later towns and villages. The first land track through the valley was slashed by Hudson’s Bay Company fur traders, who followed a First Nation trail from White Rock beaches up the Nicomekl and Salmon rivers to the Fraser, where they later founded Fort Langley. Later trails were made by surveyors mapping Canada’s boundary along the 49th parallel and by the Royal Engineers, who carved the first wagon road from New Westminster to Hope and the goldfields beyond. Later still, railway travel dominated the valley: first the Canadian Pacific and the Canadian National and then the feisty little B.C. Electric Interurban, which provided passenger service on its all-electric tramcars until the 1950s. Now the automobile era has taken over, and there are roads everywhere.


  The Trans-Canada Highway dominates the valley, but this can be avoided. A great many smaller roads wind through the heart of farm country still embellished with old barns and pioneer houses, dairy pastures, orchards and vineyards, fields of berries and vegetables, farm markets, nature preserves—and a gentler, slower pace of life. And when one lifts one’s gaze from the fields, there is always the beauty of the mountains. The highway drive from Vancouver to Chilliwack takes less than an hour; on country roads, the same journey could very well take all day, a day spent driving slowly and savouring the serenity.


  Our first excursion begins with a visit to Barnston Island, a fat little crescent-shaped island, one of several beached in the lower Fraser. Amazingly, it still can only be reached by an odd little ferry: a barge, accommodating five or six cars, pushed by a tugboat. The service is free and runs on demand from 6 a.m. to almost midnight. (The residents apparently like the access the way it is, having voted down plans for a bridge.) Also amazingly, for land so close to a growing metropolis, the island is mostly farmland protected within the Agricultural Land Reserve: a wide-open country space laced with weedy drainage ditches and sprinkled with a few old barns and farmhouses, an organic beef farm, a herb-and-vegetable farm, two dairies, cranberry fields, cows, goats, sheep, ponies, and many hawks and eagles. Along the south shore, the small Katzie First Nation reserve accommodates homes and small docks for fishboats.
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    Devitt’s farm barn is one of the few remaining pioneer structures left on Barnston Island.

  


  Lying low in the river, the island farmland is shielded from floods by a high perimeter dyke. A 10-kilometre loop road on top of the dyke provides paved footing for winter walks, when the mountains across the river are ethereal with snow, and hoarfrost coats the wayside weeds. Spring is lovely, too, with young goats and lambs in the fields and dandelions thrusting up beside every ditch. The island has become a popular biking destination, especially for young families on sunny weekends. Whether you circumnavigate Barnston on foot, by bike or by car, it will be a pleasant excursion. To reach the island, drive east on the Trans-Canada from Vancouver and take 104 Avenue (Exit 50) north to the ferry landing, which is next to Surrey Bend Regional Park. Because of the peculiarities of the ferry, automobile traffic must back on and off the ramp on the island side of the crossing.


  Barnston Island was named in 1827 for Hudson’s Bay Company clerk George Barnston, who accompanied Factor James McMillan on his journey to found the trading post of Fort Langley, so it is appropriate that the fort is the next destination. Once off the ferry, turn south on 176 Street, join the highway heading east, and then take Exit 58 onto 88 Avenue, which is signposted for Fort Langley. Turn left (north) on Glover Road. The village that grew up around the fort has become almost a destination in itself, for it still holds many traces of its pioneer past, including vintage homes, two heritage churches, a large and shady Victorian graveyard, a magnificent community hall, antique shops, boutiques, restaurants and several museums. One of the museums is located in the 1915 Canadian National train station, which is surrounded by banks of peonies planted by the station master’s wife. From the riverside parking lot of historic Jacob Haldi House (now the Bedford House restaurant), there is a fine view of McMillan Island and the steepled 1897 church of the Holy Redeemer, situated on the Kwantlen First Nation reserve. Across the river, the snowy peaks of the Golden Ears really do turn golden in the sunset. Until 2009, a ferry crossing the Fraser here added to the antique ambience of the village but has since been replaced by a toll bridge downstream.


  Before the establishment of Fort Victoria, the fort at Fort Langley (at the east end of Mavis Avenue) was the main Hudson’s Bay Company coastal depot for furs and diplomatic dispatches, the nucleus for colonial trade, industry and settlement. Barrels of salted salmon and crates of cranberries found a ready market in the gold-mining camps of California. The fort is a historic park, and while only one log building is original, several others have been faithfully reconstructed. Stores, workshops and residences (including the two-storey Big House, where the crown colony of British Columbia was first proclaimed in 1858) are well stocked with authentic artifacts, and the fort’s stockade and bastions have been partially rebuilt, complete with cannons.


  In summer, interpreters in antique garb act as workers pressing stacks of furs, making barrels for salted salmon, manning the forge in the blacksmith’s shop, spinning, weaving, serving behind the counter in the trading room and engaging in other pioneer pursuits. For a contemplative overlook, climb into a fort bastion, squint through one of the gun ports at the fields and river below, and imagine the wilderness that once lay all around and the isolation the traders must have felt so far from civilization.


  The present fort, which dates from 1839, is not the first to be built here. Twelve years earlier, in response to urgent claims of American sovereignty over all the land known as the Oregon Territory, the Hudson’s Bay Company, acting for the British Crown, sent the schooner Cadboro up the Fraser to establish the first trading post north of the Columbia River, delivering a strong political message that this was British land. They chose a site just downstream from the present one. This Fort Langley was later considered too small and inconvenient, and the company built a bigger and better one on higher ground a few kilometres east. Though the old fort was abandoned, the significance of the site, the first firmly held colonial outpost on the lower Fraser, was not lost to Governor James Douglas.


  In 1858 he chose the riverside clearing for a settlement that he called Derby, after the British prime minister of the day. Groomed to be the future capital city of the new mainland Colony of British Columbia, the townsite was surveyed, and tenders went out for construction of a courthouse, a jail, a church and parsonage. The Royal Engineers under Colonel Moody were called in to establish military headquarters here. When Moody arrived, he quickly saw that Derby was totally unsuitable for a capital city: it was too far upstream and on the wrong side of the river to be defended against enemy (American) attack. The water here was also too shallow to accommodate seagoing ships. He countermanded the whole scheme and chose to build the new capital, Queensborough (later New Westminster), nearer to the river’s mouth.


  
    [image: Fraser Valley Mountains]


    In spring, when valley fields are at their greenest, the mountains can still receive a dusting of fresh snow, adding to the beauty of this scene near Fort Langley.

  


  By this time, Derby was already a going concern. The little church of St. John the Divine had been built—the parson, Reverend William Crickmer, ensconced in his parsonage, and the first service already celebrated. There was also, of course, a saloon, the What Cheer, run by Samuel Robertson and his wife, Julia, daughter of a Cowichan chief. Situated in a line of ramshackle buildings, it shows up quite clearly in a sketch of Derby’s main street drawn by the Reverend Crickmer in 1859. The Robertsons later left the saloon business and became among the first to homestead at Albion on the north side of the Fraser, directly across from the fort. Some of the original cherry trees and grapevines they planted there still survive. Julia’s beautiful white marble tombstone sits in shaded serenity in Fort Langley’s cemetery, near St. Andrew’s Church, which dates from 1885. The bell in St. Andrew’s Gothic steeple is reputedly from the Hudson’s Bay steamship, Beaver, which was built in England in 1835 and was the first steamship on the Pacific Coast to ply the Fraser River. History is interwoven here.


  Derby townsite lingered for a while, but later all was abandoned. In 1881 the vacant church, made of sturdy California redwood, was barged across the river to the village of Maple Ridge, where it stands to this day. Nothing is left of the first Fort Langley or the town, but the site is preserved in Derby Reach Regional Park, a pleasantly rural swath of riverside property edged with split-rail fences and shaded by a stand of black cottonwoods, home to a colony of great blue herons. There’s riverside camping and good fishing off the river bar. Across the road from the fort site stands Houston Farm, built in 1909 by Alexander Houston, the son of the more famous James Houston, who is credited with the first gold find on the Fraser River. The farm and its small frame house and huge barn are included in a heritage property covering both the site of the first fort and some of the old Derby townsite. Walking trails loop through the land and along the riverbank. To reach this historical site, turn off Glover Road (the main Fort Langley village street) onto 96 Avenue, and drive west. Where the road takes a sharp left, go straight onto McKinnon Road, then turn right onto Allard Crescent and follow it to Derby Reach.
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    Early pioneers built their homes beside the Fraser, relying on river- boats for supplies. This is the heritage Hassall House at Glen Valley.

  


  To continue the journey, leave Fort Langley by River Road, which skirts under the fort’s stockade to follow the river (although the high-banked track of the CN Railway pretty well hides the river from view for several kilometres). Prominent to the north are the twin peaks of Golden Ears, and, to the south, blueberry and cranberry fields occupy the boggy flats. About five kilometres along, past several river-side enterprises, including the Fort Langley float-plane base, River Road jogs north to the pioneer community of Glen Valley. Here, anchoring the corner of Glen Valley Regional Park, the red-painted heritage Hassall House (1917) is typical of early pioneer homes built beside the river. There’s good fishing on nearby Two Bit and Poplar bars.


  River Road eventually peters out, but before it does, drive up the slopes of Pemberton Hill via Lefeuvre Road onto the benchland that has proved most favourable for growing daffodils. A British settler with the odd name of Fenwick Fatkin imported some bulbs from Holland in 1914 and started a flower farm in the Bradner area, primarily to grow daffodils. His success in the field spurred other farmers to plant the bulbs, and today, at the peak of the mid-April growing season, the community holds a long-weekend daffodil festival. Fields in the area turn to vivid gold, and every driveway, it seems, sports a flower stand. It’s a glorious time of year. Keep on Lefeuvre to McTavish, then drive east onto Bradner Road. North of this intersection, beside the CN rail tracks, lies Bradner’s old store and gas station, and north again is the Jubilee Hall. If it’s festival time, head south to the community hall beside the school, where the flower show has taken place every year since 1928. Here, hundreds of different varieties of daffodils are on display, and growers stand by to take orders for fall bulb delivery. Volunteers serve lunches and daffodil teas, and a craft fair is usually taking place. Ask where the best fields of daffodils are (try Haverman Road), and search for that quintessential view: a field of daffodils with snowy Mount Baker or Golden Ears in the background.
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    During the Bradner Daffodil Festival, local growers showcase their wares in the local community hall.

  


  Continue south on Bradner Road until just before it ducks under the highway. Turn left (east) here onto Downes Road, a hilly little thoroughfare that rides north of the highway, passing several farm markets and garden stores. Keep going to the very end (about nine kilometres), then turn north onto Seldon Road, which leads to Clayburn Road at a traffic-controlled intersection on Highway 11, south of the Mission Bridge. On Clayburn Road, cross the highway and continue on to Clayburn, the earliest company town in B.C., founded in 1905 by Charles Maclure to house the workers at his Clayburn Brick Works.
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    A seaplane flies through the morning mist over the Fraser River near Abbotsford. The river is accessible here via the Matsqui Trail.

  


  A large deposit of fireclay on nearby Sumas Mountain provided material for the bricks that were shipped to towns and cities across Canada. While the factory has since moved to more modern premises nearer to Abbotsford, Clayburn remains a small rural village, with a quaint, almost old-English flavour. Along its flower-filled lanes are a dozen old company homes, including five foremans’ cottages (made of Clayburn brick, of course), a heritage school and a church. Its heart is the two-storey red-brick general store, nicely renovated and still very much in business, partly as an old-fashioned English sweet shop and Yorkshire deli, partly as a traditional country tea room. Across the street is a playing field where one can well imagine a game of cricket underway. The tiny village, a rural enclave almost within the growing sprawl of Abbotsford, is worth a saunter. Most of the buildings were designed by the brick factory owner’s brother, Samuel Maclure, who built Tudor Revival mansions for the rich and famous in early Vancouver and Victoria and was one of B.C.’s premier pioneer architects.
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    Clayburn General Store, the focus of attention in this first company town in B.C., shares its huge interior with an old-fashioned sweet shop, deli and tea house.

  


  After enjoying a pot of tea, when you’re ready to leave this little bit of old England, return west along Clayburn Road a few blocks to Bell Road, drive north through the fields, cross the railway tracks, turn right onto Page Road and continue east until it seems you can go no farther. Here by the Fraser’s edge is the beginning (or end) of the riverside Matsqui Trail; ahead lies an unpaved road that climbs over Sumas Mountain, providing superb views north across Fraser River farmland to the snowy thrust of Mount Judge Howie in the Coast Mountains. The road is used to haul rock from the old Clayburn quarry, so drive extra carefully. Sumas Mountain Road winds down again into the valley to meet Straiton Road (which leads more directly from Clayburn Village and is a way to avoid the mountain drive for the faint of heart or those with tender vehicles). Keep going down through the old communities of Straiton and Kilgard until the road meets Highway 1. Go east on North Parallel beside the highway to Number 3 Road (Exit 104) and cross to the south side. In spring, there are usually fields of daffodils in this part of the valley, and it’s always worth stopping at The Yellow Barn for fresh country produce.


  Keep on Number 3 Road, turn north on Boundary Road and east on Keith Wilson Road to cross the Vedder Canal, built back in the 1920s as part of a huge drainage scheme. This part of the valley was once inundated by a shallow lake fed by a Fraser backwater and spring high-water overflow from the Chilliwack and Vedder rivers. The canal and an assortment of dykes, ditches and pumping stations drained the lake, and farmers moved onto the land. In 1948 extreme high water breached the Sumas dyke and the land was drowned once again. Evidence of this flood can still be seen on various old buildings in the area. The settlement of Sumas had its name changed to Greendale in 1951 to avoid confusion with Sumas, Washington.
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    The ethereal snows of the Coast Range hover above this idyllic Fraser Valley dairy farm.

  


  A few blocks farther east on Keith Wilson Road, 130 hectares of flood plain at the foot of Sumas Prairie Road have been set aside as the Great Blue Heron Nature Reserve. You can get information and a map of the reserve trails at the Interpretive Centre. The heronry itself, more than 200 nests bunched high in the cottonwoods, is best seen through binoculars from the dyke path or via a webcam set up in the centre. There is always plenty of action during the peak nesting season in April. Other birds to look for include many species of waterfowl, eagles and hawks, and a veritable choir of songbirds. Western painted turtles live in the slough and hoist themselves out onto logs to bask in the sunshine.


  From the heronry, return to the Vedder Canal bridge and drive north onto Chadsey Road, which leads onto Old Yale Road, a section of the earliest east-west route through the Fraser Valley. A little way east, at the intersection with Adams Road, stop to see Sumas Methodist church, an old-timer (1886) now renovated and serving as a wedding chapel and photography studio. To keep on Old Yale Road (now Highway 1A), cross the highway at the Lickman Road overpass, veer right and continue east through busy urban Chilliwack. Though some parts of it are not rural, Old Yale Road is worth driving for its historically significant, well-marked heritage sites along the way. It follows the meanders of Hope Slough, where several First Nations villages were once located, and passes through the settlements of Cheam (1871) and Rosedale (1875). Rosedale still has the feel of an old village, with its church and other buildings clustered around a bend in the road. Nearby is the ballpark, established in 1910. Here Old Yale Road leaves Hope Slough and heads east to meet Highway 9, which connects Highway 1 with Agassiz and Harrison Hot Springs on the north side of the river (see Chapter 4). For a break in the journey, the floral displays of Minter Gardens are almost directly on your path, a short drive south on Bunker Road. Or, cross the highway and drive east to the quiet woodlands around Bridal Veil Falls, a cascade most aptly named.
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    Holstein cows cluster in the doorway of a milking shed near Camp River Road.

  


  The return loop to Chilliwack, however, requires a short drive north on Highway 9 and then a turn down Ferry Road, on your right just before the bridge. This road ducks under the bridge approach and leads west past the long-gone ferry dock and a shingle beach before turning onto Camp River Road, a beautifully rustic pioneer route that follows the serpentine passage of Camp Slough. At one point, the road becomes a shady lane overhung with giant maples draped with ferns and moss. There are interesting barns, a few pioneer homes, goats and dairy cows, tree farms, a rhododendron garden and nurseries—and stupendous views south across the fields to Mount Cheam and other peaks in the Lucky Four Group of the Cascade Mountains.


  North toward the Fraser, the land is a patchwork of islands carved by meandering creeks and sloughs: Fairfield Island, Hog Island, Rose Island, Windermere Island and Rosebank Island, all traversed by a maze of farm roads, some of them connected by old bridges. It’s an area well worth exploring. Just past Rose Island, Camp Slough ambles north to join the Fraser, and the road follows Hope River, which leads west all the way to Young Road, one of Chilliwack’s major north-south routes. At the north end of Young Road is the site of Minto Landing, where a ferry used to cross the river to the CPR station at Harrison Mills (the landing was named after one of the early sternwheelers on the river). The ferry service enabled Chilliwack farmers to send their produce by train to market at New Westminster. Near the old ferry landing, at a site not commemorated in any way, Simon Fraser is said to have landed on his epic journey to the sea in 1808.


  Young Road leads south back into Chilliwack, now one of the largest cities in the Fraser Valley. Here, the Trans-Canada Highway is easily accessible for the return journey to Vancouver.
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  Tracking the Borderline


  One of the most interesting drives through the Fraser Valley follows the 49th parallel east from Boundary Bay almost to Hope, where the flat valley lands bump up against the ramparts of the Cascade Mountains. It’s a route unobstructed by major settlements and unhampered by traffic lights, and it is slow enough to allow plenty of time to consider why the border is where it is, and how it was ever made.


  Boundaries between nations are usually decided by geographical features—a height of land, a lakeshore or the meanders of a river—features that people can see and respect (or fight over). The Canada/U.S. border follows a straight line that exists, like other lines of latitude, only on paper or in the imagination. It has been described as “topographically absurd,” a description that seems supremely apt as one sees it on a map, knifing across ridges and rivers and keeping its purity of direction even across the steepest mountains.


  The Oregon Treaty of 1846 chose the 49th parallel as a compromise solution between the land claims of the British Colonial Office (which modestly wanted all the old Hudson’s Bay Company fur lands north of the Columbia River) and the United States (which thought that its territory should stretch to Alaska). A joint Boundary Commission was empowered, and survey parties from both governments were to be sent out to establish this compromise boundary line using astronomical observations and working with chains and compasses.
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    The 49th parallel strides true to its course over the rugged Cascade Mountains. Often the cutline through the trees is the only boundary marker.

  


  Eleven years after the Treaty was signed (political decisions take time to implement), a workforce of 56 Royal Engineers, plus numerous hired axemen, packers, mule drivers and camp helpers, arrived from Britain to begin the job of marking the 49th parallel through B.C. to the Rockies. A comparable workforce started in the U.S. south of the line. Difficult enough, the job was hampered by the sheer rawness of the land. There were no roads or railways; the valley bottoms were thickly forested and marshy, teeming with mosquitoes; the mountains were steep and almost unassailable. Before surveyors could begin, trees had to be felled, supply roads hacked out though swamps and mountain valleys, roaring rivers bridged, camps set up and supplies organized. It was a monumental undertaking, particularly since the line, once both sides had agreed on its accuracy, had to be marked by iron obelisks sent from England, to act as mile markers.
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  Despite the enormous scope of the task, the boundary cutline between B.C. and Washington State was finished in two years, and today one can drive alongside most of it, at least where it traverses the flatlands of the Fraser Valley. West of Yarrow, Vedder Mountain stamps down its huge high foot, and the 49th goes ruler-straight over the top of it and down, then up again into the misty reaches of the high Cascades through Manning Park. (For further insights into the project, a good read is Mapping the Frontier: Charles Wilson’s Diary of the Survey of the 49th Parallel, 1858–1862, edited by George Stanley and published by Macmillan.)


  A day’s country drive follows the boundary line almost as far as Hope, and adds a couple of side trips to other border points. Begin the trek at the Douglas Border Crossing just east of the Peace Arch. Access this from Highway 99 by taking exit 2A to Campbell River Road and turning south on Pacific Highway 15. Just before the customs building, turn east along 1 Avenue, then follow it around to 0 Avenue, which sits just north of the 49th parallel, probably in no man’s land, the seven-metre swath that divides the nations. For much of its way east, the boundary line consists of little more than a ditch and/or a fence—and sometimes nothing at all—between fields and shrubbery that look much the same north and south.
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    A lovely old weathered barn, its paint fading to soft grey, still stands right beside 0 Road, facing the Canada–US boundary line.

  


  The road, of course, is straight, if hilly in places, but it cannot be called dull. Remote, peaceful and lovely, this stretch of the valley is worth driving at any time of year: spring dandelions and daffodils give way to summer buttercups and cow parsley, the pale stars of thimbleberries, glimmering moon-daisies, fields of strawberries and raspberries, then fall colours set against snowy peaks. The road is popular for family bike rides, and during the work week it is used as a commuter shortcut, but by and large you will have the road to yourself as you count the boundary monuments—yes, many are still there, where they were placed during the arduous work of surveying so many years ago, though some have been replaced with modern, skinnier versions and others can be hard to find in the bushes. Look for sturdy silver-painted obelisks sitting on the Canadian side of the line. Each is numbered for the miles from boundary Monument Number 1 at Point Roberts.
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    An undefended border indeed: a frayed barbed-wire fence defines the borderline west of the Huntingdon Crossing, marked by one of the official monuments.

  


  Just after Monument 19, 0 Avenue (also known as Boundary Road) reaches the Aldergrove/Lyndon border crossing. Simply follow the road as it angles around, crosses the customs lineup on Highway 13 and resumes its eastward thrust. A deep ditch here marks the line, and across it, the valley to the south opens up to views of Mount Baker. Near here, photogenic old homesteads and dairy barns nestle on both sides of the border. Near Monument 21, neat rows of raspberry bushes converge on the horizon. Today, this fertile land ranks with the most expensive farmland in Canada, but in the 1920s, it could be bought for less than $30 an acre. Bradner Road is worth noting: in April, dazzling daffodil fields and the locally famous Daffodil Festival and Flower Show in Bradner Hall are well worth a detour (see Chapter 1).


  A little farther, at Townline Road, Boundary Road comes to an abrupt stop, mostly because the northern tip of Judson Lake pokes up from Washington State, forming a natural barrier and a site well known to birdwatchers for its concentrations of migrating waterfowl—and also because it is the only place in B.C. and Washington where the little blue heron has been spotted. If you stand at the corner of Townline and Boundary roads and look east, you can see the border cut, marked by a fence line, as it strides toward the lake.


  Drive north on Townline Road through raspberry fields and packing plants toward Clearbrook, “The Raspberry Capital of Canada.” Turn east on Huntingdon Road, from here the closest through road north of the border, and drive through the small community of South Poplar, where the cemetery is shaded by a “fence” of giant cedars. There’s another monument, Number 30, at the south foot of McCallum Road, where the boundary is defined only by a tumbled wire fence. All of the dead-end side roads south along here are worth driving, if only for the scenery and the farm-gate fruit, eggs, corn and other homegrown valley foods.
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    A high waterfall cascades into the Klesilkwa River by the road leading south to the Skagit Valley. Mossy stream banks are starred with summer daisies.

  


  Continue east on Huntingdon then drive south on Highway 11 and head for the Huntingdon border crossing. Turn east on 2nd Avenue, which angles onto Boundary Road, back on the 49th parallel. After Boundary Road crosses the Sumas River, the boundary line climbs straight up onto the shoulders of Vedder Mountain, and travellers wishing to continue the borderline quest must find other roads. Boundary Road turns onto Whatcom Road, a continuation of the Whatcom Trail, a route that U.S. miners travelled to reach the gold claims on the Fraser and beyond. It was near here that the Royal Engineers set up their major Sumas depot—one small log house—and began their boundary survey, pushing both east across the mountains and west toward the sea.


  Between the borderline and the Fraser River, the valley here used to be covered by a huge shallow lake with looking-glass reflections of the mountains all around. Surveyor Charles Wilson wrote in his diary, “It is the most beautiful place I was ever in,” but beauty wasn’t everything. From mid-June until September, the marshy swamps around Sumas Lake were a breeding ground for mosquitoes. His diary continues: “The mosquitoes have now regularly set in. It is a perfect agony performing even the regular actions of life. Washing is perfect torture, they settle en masse upon you, perfectly covering every portion of the body exposed. We sit wrapped in leather with gloves on and bags round our heads and even that cannot keep them off; none of us have had any sleep for the last two nights.” Some of the men suffered from malaria, and mules were blinded by the insect bites.
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    Not many old farm buildings remain along 0 Road, but this one is well worth a photo stop.

  


  The whole valley bottom south of Chilliwack was subject to yearly floods when Sumas Lake, fed by a backwater of the Fraser, became the catch basin for spring run-off from the mountains. Pioneer settlers kept their distance, and roads were forced into long detours. Old Yale Road, the first wagon road through the valley from New Westminster, made a looping track south of Sumas Lake on its way to Hope and Yale, finding dry footing around the edge of Vedder Mountain. Later, the B.C. Electric Railway was also forced south of the lake on a high embankment. It wasn’t until 1920 that the federal government dyked the rivers and drained the lake as part of a massive flood-control program. Vedder Canal was cut to lead water back into the Fraser, and eventually the lake bed became dry enough for settlement. Even so, many of the pioneer farmers chose to build on slightly higher knolls, a decision that protected them when the serious floods of 1948 breached the dykes and swamped the land once again.


  East of the Huntingdon Crossing, stay on winding Whatcom Road north through dairy farm country to Vye Road, which parallels the high railway embankment. Drive east on Vye to Lamson Road, which ducks under the railway heading south. Take this road until just before it dead-ends near the border, then continue east on Maher Road, which becomes part of Old Yale Road. Where the road turns north, there’s a good view of the borderline cut climbing up the steep forested slope of Vedder Ridge. From here, staying as close to the border as possible requires a zigzag route: east on Vye to Powerhouse, north to Wells Line Road, east to Inter-Provincial, north to Campbell, east to Town—a route that perhaps is close to the original Old Yale Road as it strove to keep its feet dry.


  At the south end of Powerhouse Road there is indeed a powerhouse: a white concrete structure embellished with a classical Greek pediment bearing the name of the British Columbia Electric Railway Co. and the words “Sumas Substation.” The top windows under the pediment are circular, like portholes. This substation powered B.C. Electric’s Interurban railway, which ran between Chilliwack and New Westminster taking farm produce to market on its daily milk run, as well as carrying the mail and providing four round trips a day for passengers—an electric commuter line way ahead of its time. Instrumental in opening up the valley to farm settlement, the railway’s passenger service ran from 1910 to 1950, when it was made redundant by the Trans-Canada Highway. It remains open as a freight line (no longer electric, it uses diesel engines), and its track, therefore, survives. The Fraser Valley Heritage Railway Society, whose long-term goal is to restore and operate heritage electric interurban cars on the full length of the original rail route, has acquired and refitted some of the early railcars and restored one heritage station, at Sullivan in Surrey, where it parks its rolling stock.


  Town Road meets Boundary Road at the foot of the mountains and heads north to join Yarrow Central, the main street of Yarrow, a pioneer village settled by Mennonites in the 1920s and named by railway officials for the masses of wild yarrow flowers growing here when it planted its station. As a more dramatic alternative to Town Road, Majuba Hill Road turns uphill (right) off Town Road and extends for four kilometres along the ridge, providing good views through trees of the valley below. One of the few places in this area guaranteed to stay dry, the Majuba Hill plateau, named for a famous Boer War battle, was settled early. The first post office in the area—and the first school—was established here in the home of William and Mary Chadsey in 1900. Majuba Hill Road descends to the valley, and where it crosses the railway tracks at the bottom of the hill, a cairn in tiny Majuba Park commemorates the building of the first wagon road to Yale. Drive north to Yarrow Road, then turn right onto Vedder Mountain Road.
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    The steep blue hulk of Mount Cheam looms above Fraser Valley fields, where a wandering side road attracts scavenging crows.

  


  Because of the mountainous nature of the border terrain east of here, there are no more stretches of a sedate Boundary Road from which to track the 49th parallel. But a couple of roads do meet the boundary, and each makes an interesting side trip. The first leads into the quietly rural Columbia Valley at the head of Cultus Lake—the site of a British Boundary Survey camp, and today a well-established summer recreation area. Almost surrounded by provincial parkland, the small communities of Cultus Lake and Lindell Beach and the camps and cabins along the shore are all within easy reach of wild forests and mountains.


  Columbia Valley Road leads south from Vedder Mountain Road along the east side of Cultus Lake. At a prominent junction, take Iverson Road, which leads southwest directly to the border, where it joins Henderson Road (in essence another 0 Road) for a short stretch of borderline travel, complete with a prominent boundary marker. From this location at the end of the valley, one can see the border slash slicing up through the mountain forests in both directions, most clearly after a fresh snowfall.


  The valley is divided by two major roads: Columbia Valley Road and Maple Falls Road. Both aim south toward their erstwhile destinations in Washington State: Columbia Valley Road led to Columbia, and Maple Falls Road led to the old town of Maple Falls, once a boisterous logging and mining community south of Washington’s Silver Lake. This was an important supply centre for Columbia Valley settlers, some of whom, before a major re-survey in 1905, believed they were living in the U.S. (The road to Vedder Crossing was not put through until 1916.) Today both valley roads dead-end at the border, and this isolation gives the valley a unique charm. It is ruggedly rural, with tree nurseries, berry farms, a winery, miniature horses and a pig farm. There are some splendid split-cedar pioneer barns dating from 1900. All have cedar shake roofs and follow the same design: haylofts above, with milking parlours along the side walls (the first settlers in the valley were dairy farmers).


  Return to Cultus Lake after your explorations and make your way back to Vedder Crossing, an important transportation hub when Yale Road was the only major thoroughfare to and from coastal cities. The bridge at Vedder Crossing marks the start of the road leading south to Chilliwack Lake, a route used by Boundary Commission workers to access the border in the high Cascade Mountains. North of the Vedder Bridge is Camp Chilliwack, formerly a Canadian military engineers’ training camp. While the camp is now closed and the land has been turned into a residential enclave, there is a very good military museum here, with all sorts of mementoes of the Royal Engineers, who surveyed the border, built most of the roads and plotted many of the pioneer towns and cities in British Columbia’s early days. Farther along, on the outskirts of Sardis, is the site of Edenbank Creamery, western Canada’s first cheese factory and the first farm to ship milk and cream to Vancouver on the B.C. Electric Railway in 1911.
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    A view south across the border into Washington: only a straggling wire fence keeps the cows from crossing into Canada.

  


  The only other accessible section of the International Boundary lies at the south end of the Skagit Valley, near Hope. One can drive there quickly on Highway 1, but there are more leisurely alternatives. Follow Vedder Road north, turn right on Promontory Road then left onto Chilliwack River Road, one of the old winding pioneer trails. Just before Highway 1, turn right onto Prairie Central Road, a civilized country route that runs east through pretty farmland with some fine views of the mountains to the north. The road joins Annis Road, which leads onto the highway. Drive east toward Hope, then take Exit 168 to the Old Highway 1. Turn south along Silver-Skagit Road, which leads 60 kilometres to Ross Lake and, again, the 49th parallel. The road is paved for the first 10 kilometres to Silver Lake Provincial Park. Beyond, it reverts to good gravel, climbs a low pass, tracks the lively Klesilkwa River down into Skagit Valley Provincial Park and crosses the Skagit River on the 26 Mile Bridge.


  
    [image: Skagit Rhododendron]


    Pinkish-red rhododendrons are among B.C.’s protected wildflowers. Drivers can see a small pocket of them along Highway 3 through Manning Park, but they are plentiful in the Skagit Valley.

  


  The Skagit River rises in alpine Manning Park and runs at first generally southwest, then, joined by the Klesilkwa, it continues across the Washington border through the Ross Lake reservoir and a series of dams to flow leisurely into Puget Sound. Formed by glaciers that scoured its U-shaped bottomlands, the Skagit Valley is wedged between mountain peaks high enough to escape glaciation. Surrounded by their sharp towering spires and pinnacles, the valley offers appealing wilderness scenery despite a century of logging. Today it is a wildlife haven and prime recreational land for hiking, climbing, canoeing and fishing. Climatically benign, it enjoys a mix of coastal wet and inland dry vegetation, with average temperatures above those of the Fraser Valley and considerably less precipitation, due to a rain-shadow effect.


  The valley is perhaps best known botanically for its displays of wild red rhododendrons. Motorists along Highway 3 through Manning Park catch a glimpse of their glory in a roadside park beside the Skagit River at Rhododendron Flats, but in late June and early July, the Skagit Valley provides riotous displays. The wild shrubs are found only in the Cascade Mountains of B.C. and Washington.


  Before dams were built along the river, the Skagit Valley provided a relatively easy transportation route from the Washington coast near Bellingham to the goldfields of B.C.’s Interior, and in 1858, Captain Walter de Lacy of the U.S. army laid out a riverside cross-border trail that followed the Skagit and the Snass rivers to meet the old fur-brigade route and the Dewdney Trail (now retraced by B.C.’s Highway 3). A well-preserved 16-kilometre section of this track links the Skagit Valley here with Sumallo Grove, a lovely little park of giant cedars along Highway 3. An energetic day hike, the trail leads through the Skagit’s steep, unlogged upper valley and past some of B.C.’s big relic trees: groves of giant cedars, tall black cottonwoods and ponderosa pines.


  Discovery of placer gold brought an influx of mining hopefuls into the Skagit Valley around the turn of the century, and later, a couple of scam artists from Nevada salted claims around Shawatum Mountain so successfully that they sparked a stampede—and even the growth of an ephemeral mining town called Steamboat—before their larceny was discovered. Some pioneers tried ranching, but by and large it was logging territory, and much of the flat valley floor is now bushy second-growth.


  In Washington State, the Skagit River has long been dammed to provide hydroelectric power for the city of Seattle. Between 1937 and 1949, the Gorge and Diablo dams were built, and later, Ross Dam was added to the system, backing up the river to form the 37-kilometre-long reservoir known as Ross Lake. A later raising of the dam caused Ross Lake to spill into Canada. Plans for further dam construction in the 1960s would have enlarged the lake even farther north, right up to the Klesilkwa River at 26 Mile Bridge. Stalled for years by the B.C. government and very active citizen protest groups on both sides of the border, plans for the High Ross Dam were eventually shelved. In 1996 the area became a provincial park, and, presumably, the valley is now safe from further encroachment.


  The Silver-Skagit Road is primarily a scenic riverside and mountain valley drive, with several river access points and trailhead parking places for those hiking mountain trails or enjoying meadow walks. The river is one of B.C.’s best trout-fishing streams, and several meadows, including the sites of Whitworth and Chittenden, two pioneer ranches, display profusions of wildflowers in spring and summer. Birds and other wildlife abound.


  Just north of the 49th parallel, Ross Lake Park provides lakeside camping, and farther along, the International Point picnic and boat-launch area, almost smack dab on the border, provide a good view (doubled by its reflection) of the western boundary slash. East, a rough scramble up onto a bluff leads to a boundary marker, the completion point of the first stage of the Boundary Survey from Point Roberts to the Upper Skagit in 1858. There is no border crossing here, but Silver-Skagit Road continues south for about two kilometres into Washington State, ending at North Cascades National Park’s Hozameen Campground. Perhaps in the spirit of this border trek, one could opt to boat or swim the line of the 49th parallel across Ross Lake, but a picnic lunch along the shore might well suffice.
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